Brogent Technologies Inc.
2019 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting Minutes

Time: 9:00AM, Wednesday, May 29, 2019
Venue: No. 9, Fuxing 4th Road, Qianzhen District, Kaohsiung City
(Assembly Hall, Building A, Brogent Technologies)

Total Outstanding Brogent shares: 53,092,772 shares

Total shares represented by shareholders present in person or by proxy: 32,831,407 shares
(among them 3,252,257 shares voted via electronic transmission.), percentage of
shares held by shareholders present in person or by proxy: 61.83%.

Chairman: Chih-Chuan Chen, the Chairman of the Board of Directors

Presenters: Chih-Hung Ouyang (C.E.Q.), Chin-Huo Huang (Director), Chun-Hao Cheng
(Director), Chin-Wen Chuang (Independent Director), Yung-Liang Huang
(Supervisor) , Yi-Hsiang Huang (Supervisor) , Ken-Huang Lin (Supervisor),
Yi-Shun Chang (CPA of Grant Thornton Taiwan), Kalvin Huang (Lawyer of
Formosan Brothers), Hui-Chuang Lin (C.F.O.)

Minutes Recorder: Fei-Hsiu Hsu
The aggregate shareholding of the shareholders present in person or by proxy constituted a
quorum. The Chairman called the meeting to order.

A. Chairman's Address (omitted)
B. Report Items

I: The 2018 Business Report is hereby submitted for review.
Please refer to Attachment 1 on page 8 of the Manual for the Business Report.

II: The 2018 Supervisors' Audit Report is hereby submitted for review.
Please refer to Attachment 2 on page 10 of the Manual for the Supervisors' Audit
Report.

I11: The Report on 2018 Remuneration Distribution of Employees, Directors, and
Supervisors is hereby submitted for review.
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Explanation: Pursuant to Article 21 of the Company's Articles of Incorporation, if the
Company has generated profits in the current year, five to fifteen percent of
the profits shall be set aside for employee remuneration. The remuneration
for Directors and Supervisors shall be no higher than two percent. The
proposed 2018 employee remuneration is NT$28,267,738 and the proposed
remuneration for 2018 Directors and Supervisors is NT$5,975,840; both
shall be distributed in cash and may be issued in instaliments.

IV: The Private Placement Status Report is hereby submitted for review.
Explanation: Placement status is as listed below:

Item

Date of Issue: July 06, 2015

Types of Privately Placed

Securities

Ordinary shares

Date and number of
shares passed in the
shareholders' meeting

On June 11, 2014, the annual shareholders' meeting passed the
private placement of 3,300,000 ordinary shares, which shall take
place in one or multiple tranches (no more than twice) within a
year starting from the date of resolution.

Pricing criteria and
rationality

The pricing criterion for the issuance of privately placed ordinary
share resolved in the annual shareholders' meeting on June 11,
2014, was no less than 80% of the reference price. This conforms
to regulations governing public issuing companies regarding the
terms and condition of private placement securities; therefore, the
price should be deemed reasonable.

Method of selecting
designated party

Not applicable.

Necessary reason for
private placement

Compared with publicly placed securities, privately placed
securities may not be transferred freely within three years, and
such regulation ensures the long-term cooperation between the
Company and placement subscribers. Moreover, in consideration
of the timeliness and convenience of financing requirements and
other factors such as capital market uncertainty, the issuance of
ordinary share was conducted through private placement in lieu of

public offering.

Date of Payment 2015.06.03
Completion
Private Number of | Relation |Participation
Subscriber information placement Criteria shares with the |in corporate
subject subscribed |Company|management
Kodasha Custody
Account at Taipei
Fubon Financial Confo_rms 250,000 None None
to Article
Bank 43-6 of
Gains Investment| . 500,000 None | None
Corporation "
Securities
Shang Yang and
Investment 100,000{ None None
. Exchange
Corporation Act
Chao Yang ¢
100,000, None None
Investment




Corporation

Cheng-Chien Pu 50,000 None None

Ming-Chu Kuo 30,000{ None None
Actual subscription (or NT$308.

conversion) price

Actual subscription (or
conversion) price and
difference with reference
price

No difference.

Effect of private
placement on
shareholder's equity

The current private placement funds are utilized as operational
funds to strengthen financial structure, facilitate operation
promotion, attract long-term partners, and promote stable business
growth, thus benefiting shareholders' rights and interests.

Status of private
placement fund spending
and project
implementation progress

All funds have been received and will be successively utilized
following planning completion.

Manifestation of private
placement benefits

Not applicable.




C. Ratifications
Item 1: The 2018 Business Report and Financial Report are hereby submitted for
ratification. (Proposed by the Board of Directors)
Explanation: 1.The Company's 2018 Financial Report has been audited by CPAs
Hui-Ping Liu and Jay Lo of Grant Thornton Taiwan. The Financial
Report and Business Report have been forwarded to the Supervisors for
review, and the written Audit Report is submitted for approval.
2.The Company's 2018 Business Report (please refer to Attachment 1 on
page 8-9 of the Manual) and Financial Report (please refer to
Attachment 3 on pages 11-21 of the Manual).
3.The reports are hereby submitted for ratification.
Resolution: The balloting outcome including votes exercised through electronic voting:
31,362,153 pro votes, accounting for 99.81% of the aggregate total votes;
227 con votes, 0 invalid vote, abstention/ Non-voting votes: 57,737 votes.
The present issue is duly resolved exactly as proposed.

Item 2: The 2018 Earnings Distribution Proposal is hereby submitted for ratification.
(Proposed by the Board of Directors)

Explanation: 1. The Company's net profit after tax in 2018 amounted to NT$257,168,051,
of which 10% (NT$16,991,578) has been set aside as the legal reserve.
The distributable profits available as of the end of 2018 amounted to
NT$179,704,660. According to Article 22 of the Company's Articles of
Incorporation, a cash dividend of NT$3.38 per share is proposed for the
current year. Based on the 53,092,772 shares outstanding, the total cash
dividend to be distributed is NT$179,453,569. The cumulative undistributed
profits at the end of the period is NT$251,091.

2. The Board of Directors shall be authorized to separately establish a
record date and issuance date etc. following the resolution of the Annual
Shareholders Meeting.

3. In the event the numbers of shares outstanding are subsequently affected
by changes in the Company's share capital or other reasons, resulting in
the necessity to revise the shareholder's payout ratio, the shareholders
shall be requested to authorize the Board of Directors at the Annual
Shareholders Meeting to conduct such revision at its full discretion.

4. The Company's 2018 Earnings Distribution Table is as follows:



Brogent Technologies Inc.

PROFIT DISTRIBUTION TABLE

Year 2018
Unit: NT$

Item Sub Total Total
Balance, Beginning of Year 22,928,272
Less: Effect of Retrospective Application of IFRS 9 (2,247,714)
Less: Retirement of Treasury Shares (85,004,549)
Plus: Net Income in 2018 257,168,051
Subtotal 169,915,788
Less: Legal Reserve (16,991,578)
Add: Special Reserve- Exchange Differences Arising on 4.048.693
Translation of Foreign Operations T
Less: Remeasurement of Defined Benefit Plans (196,515)

179,704,660
Distribution Item:
Cash Dividends to Common Shareholders(NT$3.38 Per Share) | (179,453,569)
Balance, end of Year 251,091

-

5. The table is hereby submitted for ratification.

Resolution: The balloting outcome including votes exercised through electronic voting:
31,362,154 pro votes, accounting for 99.81% of the aggregate total votes;
226 con votes, 0 invalid vote, abstention/ Non-voting votes: 57,737 votes.

The present issue is duly resolved exactly as proposed.



D. Matters for Discussion
Item 1: Proposal for Stock dividends distributed from a new share issue through
capitalization of capital surplus is hereby submitted for discussion. (proposed
by the Board of Directors)

Explanation: 1. To strengthen the capital structure, the management plans to have a new
share issue through capital surplus transferred to capital in accordance
with Article 241 of the Company Act. A stock dividend of NT$0.5 will
be assigned free of charge per share based on the 53,092,772 shares
outstanding. The total stock dividend to be distributed from
capitalization of capital surplus is NT$26,546,386.

2. For share assignment, 50 shares will be assigned free of charge per 1,000
existing shares held shareholders as indicated in the shareholders’ roster
on the ex-dividend date. Shareholders must submit applications to the
company’s share transfer agent to combine their fractional shares within
five days after the record date of capital increase. If the amount is still
less than one share after combination or application for share
combination is submitted late, the full amount is converted into cash
based on their face value. These fractional shares will be subscribed on
face value to specific person(s) designated by the Chairman.

3. The shareholder rights and obligations of the new shares are the same as
those of existing shares. After the approval of the Annual Meeting of
Shareholders and the competent authority, the new shares will be
distributed on a record date determined by the Board.

4. If the number of total shares outstanding, prior to the ex-dividend date
for the distribution, has changed due to the repurchasing of shares by
the Company, such that the ratios of the stock dividends and cash
dividends are affected and must be adjusted, the Board is authorized to
make such adjustments.

5. It is proposed that the Board of Directors be authorized to take any
action that may be required in connection with the capital increase plan
as a result of any amendment to applicable laws or regulations or as
required by the competent authorities..

6. Submitted for discussion.

Resolution: The balloting outcome including votes exercised through electronic voting:

31,362,153 pro votes, accounting for 99.81% of the aggregate total votes;
227 con votes, 0 invalid vote, abstention/ Non-voting votes: 57,737 votes.
The present issue is duly resolved exactly as proposed.

Item 2: Proposal for Cash distribution from Capital Surplus is hereby submitted for
discussion. (proposed by the Board of Directors)

Explanation: 1. It is proposed to distribute NT$32,917,518 from capital surplus of the

issuing premium of the par value of the common share pursuant to

Article 241 of the Company Act. A cash dividend of NT$0.62 per share

is to be distributed based on the 53,092,772 shares outstanding.
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2. The distribution will be based on the list of shareholders registered as of
the record date of cash distribution of capital surplus. The
aforementioned cash distribution will be paid to the rounded-down full
NT dollar.

3. Upon the approval of the Annual Meeting of Shareholders, it is
proposed that the Board of Directors be authorized to resolve the
ex-dividend record date, issuance date and other relevant issues.

4. If the number of total shares outstanding, prior to the ex-dividend date
for the distribution, has changed due to the repurchasing of shares by
the Company, such that the ratios of the stock dividends and cash
dividends are affected and must be adjusted, the Board is authorized to
make such adjustments.

5. Submitted for discussion.

Resolution: The balloting outcome including votes exercised through electronic voting:
31,362,154 pro votes, accounting for 99.81% of the aggregate total votes;
228 con votes, 0 invalid vote, abstention/ Non-voting votes: 57,735 votes.
The present issue is duly resolved exactly as proposed.

Item 3: The amendment of clauses of the “Articles of Incorporation” is hereby
submitted for discussion. (proposed by the Board of Directors)
Explanation: 1. To implement corporate governance, amendments for clauses of the
Company's “Articles of Incorporation” are proposed.
2. Please refer to Attachment 4 on page 22-23 of the Manual for the
Comparison Table of the "Articles of Incorporation” before and after
revision.
3. Submitted for discussion.
Resolution: The balloting outcome including votes exercised through electronic voting:
31,362,153 pro votes, accounting for 99.81% of the aggregate total votes;
227 con votes, 0 invalid vote, abstention/ Non-voting votes: 57,737 votes.
The present issue is duly resolved exactly as proposed.

Item 4: The amendment of clauses of the “Procedures for Acquisition and Disposal of
Assets” is hereby submitted for discussion. (proposed by the Board of
Directors)

Explanation: 1. To comply with the laws and regulations of "Regulations Governing
the Acquisition and Disposal of Assets by Public Companies”, it is
proposed to revise “Procedures for Acquisition and Disposal of
Assets”.

2. Please refer to Attachment 5 on page 24-43 of the Manual for the
Comparison Table of the “Procedures for Acquisition and Disposal of
Assets” before and after revision.
3. Submitted for discussion.
Resolution: The balloting outcome including votes exercised through electronic voting:
31,361,150 pro votes, accounting for 99.81% of the aggregate total votes;
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227 con votes, 0 invalid vote, abstention/ Non-voting votes: 58,740 votes.
The present issue is duly resolved exactly as proposed.

Item 5: The amendment of clauses of the “Operational Procedures for Loaning of
Company Funds” and “Operational Procedures for Endorsements and

Guarantees” is hereby submitted for discussion. (proposed by the Board of

Directors)
Explanation: 1. To comply with the laws and regulations of "Regulations Governing

Loaning of Funds and Making of Endorsements/Guarantees by Public

Companies".
2. Please refer to Attachment 6 and Attachment 7 on page 44-52 of the

Manual for the Comparison Table of the "Articles of Incorporation™

before and after revision.

3. Submitted for discussion.
Resolution: The balloting outcome including votes exercised through electronic voting:

31,361,150 pro votes, accounting for 99.81% of the aggregate total votes;
230 con votes, 0 invalid vote, abstention/ Non-voting votes: 58,737 votes.

The present issue is duly resolved exactly as proposed.

Special motions
There being no other business and special motion, upon a motion duly made and

seconded, the meeting was adjourned.

Meeting adjourned at 9:27 AM Wednesday, May 29, 2019.



(Attachment 1)
Brogent Technologies Inc.

Business Report
1) Operating policies

Brogent has a abundant year of 2018 with the successful grand openings of our
theme park clients, Ferrari Land, Europa Park and This is Holland. Among these
successful cases, Europa Park has an outstanding record by its over 2 million visitors
within only 6 months. In addition, the i-Ride “Voletarium” in Europa Park has awarded
Europe’s Best New Ride, which further increased Brogent’s brand recognition in the
international settings. Under the guidance of such policies, Brogent will gradually
expand its productions from a delicate approach to mass production in 2018. The client
base will also include franchised customers, which will boost our 2019 revenue growth.
In order to enter the mid-sized segment, renovation and R&D will be the key elements
to enhance the global market share of Brogent. Looking forward, with the continuous
renovation and market expansion, the growth of Brogent is expectable.

2) Business Plan Implementation Results:

The Company's net operating revenue in 2018 amounted to NT$1,637 million, an
increase of approximately 8.1% from the net operating revenue of NT$258 million in

2018. The Company's net profit in the current period amounted to NT$268 million, a
157% increase from NT$104 million in 2016.

3) Operating Income and Budget Execution
(1) Operating income

The categories of operating income in 2018 included income from projects, labor,
and other operations, and the total amount was NT$1,514million, a growth of
NT$633 million from the NT$882 million in 2016. The primary reason was the

record number of received orders, resulting in the increase of total revenue for the
year from the previous year.

(2) Operating expenses

Total operating expenses in 2018 amounted to NT$385 million, an increase of
NT$48 million from the NT$336 million of 2017. The primary reasons was mainly
from the increase of NT$24 million in the bonus of employee and directors, in
addition to the purchase of necessary components of m-Ride. These expenditures
resulted in the substantial increase of consolidated management and marketing
expenses for the Group in 2018 compared to 2017.

4) Profitability analysis

The Company continued to expand its scale of operations and diversification in
2018. With an increase in revenue and effective budget control, the Group's operating
expense ratio decreased from 38.17% in 2016 to 25.39%. Operating profits increased
214% and net profit after tax increased 157% from 2016. With the increase of new
contracts and Brogent’s brand awareness in the global markets, as well as the business
direction heading for the mid-sized segment, the growth power of 2018 is expected to be
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enhanced to the next level.

5) Research and development

The Company continues to provide customers with the best services, create joyful
experiences, and maximize value for shareholders with its unique, industry-leading
research and development capabilities. Despite an increase in research and development
expenses in 2017, mostly from purchasing necessary components of m-Ride. The
company had applied for government funding, in order to lower and control the research
and development expenses occurred. The Company shall continue to innovate and
remain committed to research and development because these aspects of operation
embody corporate competitiveness. The Company shall continue to engage in advanced
technological R&D and innovative applications, and implement product-centric design
and research as well as systematic management to maintain the leading position of
products and technologies, i.e. down-sized i-Ride, VR/AR products and Q-Ride.




(Attachment 2)
Brogent Technologies Inc.

Supervisors' Audit Report

The 2018 Financial Statements compiled and delivered by the Board of Directors have
been audited by Hui-Ping Liu and Jay Lo, certified public accountants practicing at Grant
Thornton Taiwan. The Financial Statements, along with the Business Report and Earnings
Distribution Table, have been reviewed by the Supervisors who have found them to be
compliant with regulations. The Audit Report is therefore provided in accordance with the
provisions stipulated in Article 219 of the Company Act and filed for approval.

To

2019 Annual Shareholders Meeting of Brogent Technologies Inc.

Brogent Technologies Inc.

)
E=h

Supervisor: Yi-Hsiang Huang

3
1

-+
-
E3

Supervisor: Yung-Liang Huang

3

Supervisor: Gen-Huang Lin

March 12, 2019
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(Attachment 3)

EXBE&ESEESH A e gk Py
B SR MR L T e 22, 2
o GrantThornton i ST

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Board of Directors and Sharcholders of
Brogent Technologies Inc.

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Brogent Technologies Inc.
and subsidiaries (the “Group™), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31,
2018 and 2017, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and
cash flows for the years then ended, and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of the other independent accountants, (please refer
to the paragraph of Other Matters) the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly,
in all material respects, the consolidated balance sheets of the Group as of December 31, 2018 and
2017, and its consolidated statements of comprehensive income and its consolidated cash flows for
the years then ended in accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial
Reports by Securities Issuers and the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS),
International Accounting Standards (IAS), IFRIC Interpretations (IFRIC), and SIC Interpretations
(SIC) endorsed and issued into effect by the Financial Supervisory Commission in Taiwan,

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with the Regulations Governing Auditing and Attestation of
Financial Statements by Certified Public Accountants and generally accepted auditing standards in
Taiwan. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with The Norm of Professional Ethics for Certified Public
Accountant of Taiwan and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. Key
audit matters in this auditors' report are stated as follows:

Impairment of Accounts Receivable

Whether accounts receivable are impaired is subject to management’s subjective judgment by
determining the recoverable amount of overdue receivables with credit risk. The carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account, and bad debts are recognized by reference to the
assessment of the customers' credit quality. Therefore, we focus on the receivables with significant
delays in the collection, and the reasonablencss of bad debts recognized by management.
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Q Grant Thornton

The Group's main business is the design, production and sales of the simulation entertainment
equipment. In the past two years, the construction contract revenue accounts for more than 94.82%
of the annual net revenue, The carrying amount of accounts receivable as of December 31, 2018
accounts for approximately 12.21% of current assets. The amount is significant and represents the
major cash inflows provided by the operating activities of the Group. These involve the
identification and subjective judgment for the construction contract, as a result, construction contract
revenue and related receivable has been identified as a key audit matter.

Please refer to Note 4(15) to the consolidated financial statements for the related accounting policy.
For the carrying amount of accounts receivable, please refer to Note 6(5) to the consolidated
financial statements.

Tn relation to the key audit matter above, our principal audit procedures included to obtain the aging
analysis of accounts receivable, calculate the aging intervals, and sample the original vouchers to
examine whether the receivables are allocated in the aging analysis table appropriately; sample and
deliver confirmation requests; test the collection subsequent to the reporting period to evaluate the
reasonableness of allowance for impairment losses of accounts receivable; and obtain management’s
assessment on allowance for doubtful receivables to examine whether it is in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy, and review the completeness and accuracy of related disclosures made by

management,
Construction Contracts - Total Cost Estimates and the Recognition of the Stage of Completion

The Group estimates total costs of the construction contract for each project and measures the stage
of completion according to the proportion of actual construction working hours to recognize its
revenue and costs of the construction contract, which is the Group’s main business. Total estimated
costs, total estimated working hours required and actual working progress of the contract involve the
effective implementation of the project contract and management’s subjective judgment, which
contain uncertainty for accounting estimates. Considering that the recognition of the Group’s
construction contract revenue and costs has a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements, this subject has been identified as a key audit matter,

Please refer to Note 4(8) to the consolidated financial statements for the accounting policy in regard
to construction contracts. For net amount for the construction contract and the recognition of revenue
and costs, please refer to Notes 6(6) and 6(23) of the consolidated financial statements.

In relation to the key audit matter above, our principal audit procedures included evaluation on
whether the project construction contract is established in accordance with its relevant internal
control operations; obtain the project cost list and project schedule to examine whether total cost and
working hours are reasonably estimated based on management’s accumulated experience and the
current optimal situation; review expected changes of significant estimates; sample the original
vouchets to examine whether the actual construction costs incurred have been listed in the
appropriate period; confirm whether the actual stage of completion of the project plan has been
reviewed by the appropriate authorized personnel and whether the construction schedule has been
met; and evaluate the reasonableness of revenue and costs recognized according to the proportion of
actual working progress.
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Q Grant Thornton

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets

The value of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets is the future recoverable amount
generating from related assets which have not been depreciated or amortized under the situation of
management’s continued operation. Management should evaluate whether there is any indication
that assets may be impaired on each balance sheet date. If such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset should be estimated. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset, management should estimate the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. Whether assets have been impaired and the calculations of the
amount of the impairment loss involve multiple assumptions and accounting estimates, it is
important to verify that the Group is in compliance with TAS 36 and that the carrying amount of
ahove assets does not exceed the recoverable amount.

Please refer to Notes 4(10), (11) and (12) of the consolidated financial statements for related
accounting policies. For the carrying amount of related assets, pleasc refer to Notes 6(11) and (12) of
the consolidated financial statements.

In relation to the key audit matter mentioned above, our principal audit procedures included to
understand the design and implementation of the method of assessing impairment and its relevant
control system; obtain the impairment assessment made by management on the basis of the
cash-generating unit, and verify the reasonableness of the identification of the impairment as well as
the appropriateness of assumptions used by management in relation to cash-generating unit division,
cash flow forecast, discount rate, ctc.

Other Matters — Making Reference to the Audits of Component Auditors

We did not audit the financial statements of a wholly-owned consolidated subsidiary whose
statements are based solely on the reports of other auditors that is included in the consolidated
financial statements. Total asscts of the subsidiary amounted to NT$353,841 thousand and
NT$350,275 thousand, which constituting 8.39% and 10.08% of consolidated total assets as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and operating income was NT$ 91,970 thousand and
NT$129,964 thousand, which constituting 5.62% and 8.58% of consolidated total operating income
for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

We have also audited the individual financial statements of Brogent Technologies Inc. for the years
ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 on which we have issued an unqualified opinion with other
matter paragraph, as reference.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by
Securities Issuers, IFRS, TAS, IFRIC, and SIC endorsed and issued into effect by the Financial
Supervisory Commission in Taiwan, the Republic of China, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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O Grant Thornton

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance, including supervisors, are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee, that an audit conducted is in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards of in Taiwan, the Republic of China, and will detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, are expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards of Taiwan, the Republic
of China, we have exercised professional judgment and maintained professional skepticism
throughout the audit. In addition, we also:

I. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks; and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than those resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

2. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

3. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

4. Conclude on the appropriatencss of management assessment on Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, Based on the audit evidence obtained, determine whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concemn. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we arc required to
draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern,

5. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
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O Grant Thornton

including the disclosures; and whether the consolidated financial statements truly capture all
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieve the fair presentation of the Group’s
financial performance and operation.

6. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those in charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those in charged with governance with a statcment that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with those in charged
with governance with all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2018 and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

(gt Thsmto.

Grant Thornton

March 12,2019
Kaohsiung, Taiwan
(File No. B002.19F0009)

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are not intended to present the consolidated financial
position, financial performance and cash flows in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in countries and jurisdictions other than those other than Taiwan. The standards, procedures and practices in
Taiwan governing the audit of such financial statements may differ from those generally accepted in countries
and jurisdictions other than those of Taiwan. Accordingly, the accompanying consolidated financial
statements and independent auditors ' report are not intended for use by those who are not informed about the
accounting principles or auditing standards generally accepted in Taiwan and their applications in practice.
As the financial statements are the responsibility of the management, Grant Thornton will not accept any
liability for the use of, or reliance on, the English translation or for any errors or misunderstandings that may
derive from the translation of Group’s consolidated financial statements, including notes to the consolidated
financial statements.
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BROGENT TECHNOLOGIES INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars)

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Items Amount % Amount %
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 6(1)) §660.349 16 $710.647 20
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss-current (Note 6(2)) 459.056 11 230,967 7
Financial assets at amortized cost-current {Notes &3) and §) 304,864 7 - .
Debt mvestments with no active market-current (Note 6(4)) - - 196,066 6
Notes and accounts receivable, net (Note 6(5)) 326,625 8 225,968
Constriction receipts receivable (Note 6(6)) 529,353 12 440,021 13
Income tax assets 61 - 9.659 s
Inventories (Note 6(7)) 200,016 5 189,115 5
Prepayvments 16239 4 159,587 5
Other current assets {Notes &(13) and 8) 31148 1 41,607 |
Totul current assets 2,673,862 64 2.203,637 o4
Noncurrent Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss-noncurrent (Note 6(2)) 134530 3 . -
Held-to-maturity financial assets- noncurrent (Note 6(8)) - . 35,570 |
Financial assets at amortized cost-noncurrent (Notes 6(3) and 8) 59,175 2 < 5
Financial assets carnied at cost « noacurrent {Note &(9)) - . 17.856 |
Investments accounted for using equity method (Note 6(10)) 5m - 8,061 -
Property. plant and equipment (Notes 6(11) and §) 1,066 459 25 951,441 27
Intangible assets (Note 6{12)) 166,597 4 120,157 4
Deferred income tax assets (Note 6(26)) 12618 - 6,392 -
Refundable deposits 11,719 s 9,794 -
Long-term notes and accounts recetvable (Note 6(5)) . . 9,656 <
Other noncurrent assets (Notes 6(13) and 8) 85,079 2 112,338 3
Total noncurrent assels 1541949 36 1.271,265 36
Total Assets $4.215811 100 $3.474,902 1)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. (Continued)
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BROGENT TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31,2018 AND 2017
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars)

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Items Amount % Amount Y
Current Liabilities
Notes payable STL32R - $15.812 .
Accounts payable 109,600 3 35,011 I
Construction receipts payable (Note 6(6)) 74,204 2 93,341 1
Other payables (Note 6(14)) 110,080 3 96,101 k)
Income tax payable 39319 | 31,395 I
Long-term liabilities-current portion (Note 6(15)) 108,927 3 38,576 |
Oxher current liabilities 79,185 2 2,607 .
Total current liabilities 532821 14 313,143 9
Noncurrent Liabilities
Long-term bank foans (Note 6(15)) 759,343 18 42474 10
Deferred income tax liabilitics {Note 6(26)) 16,008 5,730 =
Net defined benefit liabilities-noncurrent (Note 6{16)) 8165 - 7.835 -
Total noncurrent liabilities 783,516 18 356,039 10
Total Liabilities 1,316,339 32 669,182 19
Equity Attributable To Shareholders of the Parent
Capital stock
Common stock (Note 6(17)) 530,928 13 446.7R0 13
Capital surplus
Additional paid-in capital (Note 6(20)) 1,779.281 42 1,793,826 32
From convertsble bonds (Note 6(20)) 247223 6 249,244 7
From treasury shares (Note 6(20)) - - 9,566 -
From share of changes in equities of asseciates and joint venture 1,219 - 849 -
Total capital surplus (Notes 6 18) and (19)) 2,027,723 43 2,053 485 39
Retaned camings
Legal reserve 73817 2 47,250 I
Special reserve 4.049 - 751 =
Unuppropriated eamings {Note 6(19)) 192,647 Rl 318,257 9
Total retained eamings 270,513 6 366,258 10
Other equity
Foreign Currenty Transation Reserve-subsidiaries accounted for
using equity method 7631 - (3.400) -
Foreign Currenty Transation Reserve-associates and joint ventures
usccounted for using equity method (619) - {640) s
Total other equity 7,012 - (4.049) -
Treasury shares (Note 6(20)) - - {115476) (3)
Equity Attributable To Sharcholders Of The Parent 2,836,176 67 2,746,998 79
Non-controlling Interests {Note 6(21)) 63,206 | 58,72 p4
Total Equity 2,899,472 68 2.805,720 SI
Total Liabilities and Equity $4,215811 100 $3.474,902 100

The accompanying noles are an integral part of the coasolidated financial statements.
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BROGENT TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017
(In Thowsands of New Talwan Dollars, Except Earnings per Share)

2018 017
Items Amount L Amount “
Net Revesme (Note 6123)) S1A63TA3R 100 SLSIH 409 1
Cost of Revenur (Note ¢4/25)) (916,196) 156) {782.134) (52)
Gross Profit 21242 4 728338 4
Openating Expenses
Sefling and marketing (56.277) 3 (39.867) 3
General and administraive (257.083) 116) (214,785) (14
Research und develogment (115.370) (7) (129,949) %)
Tolal operating expenses (Notes (25) and 7) (431,730) 126) {384.001) (25)
Opesating Incanse 289,512 1% 340,734 pa
Non-operating Income and Losses
Other zains and Josses (Notes 6024) and 7) 33687 1 2910 mn
Interest income LE36% - 7214 =
Interest costs 713 - (.23%) =
Loss from investment in associates and joint ventures accounted
foe wsing eguity method {Nate 6(101) 12.697) - (1.238) -
Total pan-operating income and Joss JLats I (317 h
Income Befoce Income Tax 321127 v 327.563 2
Income Tax Expenses (Note 6(26)) 162700 “) 156.382) 4
Net Invonse 25K41K 15 270181 IX
Ocher Comprehensive Income (Loss)
leems that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit o loss
Remensurement of defined bewefit plans 1249 - {553) -
Income tax benefit relnied to components of other comprehensive
moome that will not be reclassified subsequently (Note 6{26)) 52 . 9w .
Items that may be reclassified subsequemtly to peofit or loss
Exchange diiT arisng an Eation of foreign operations 175 I (2.19%6) -
Exchange dilferences ansng on tramskation of foreign operations
ol associates and joint ventures accounted for using equaty
method (Note 6(10)) 21 . L] .
[ncame tax exg relaied to J of pther comy
moaie that may be reclassified subsequently (Node 6(26)) > - 1329) -
Other comprehensive income (loss) foe the year, net of income tax 10,599 I (2.928) -
Total Comprehensive Income (Loss) For The Year 209317 16 S26%.253 IX
Net Incomse Atnbutable To |
Sharebolders of the parent $257 168 15 $263 670 18
Noo<controfling interests 1.250 . 5511 -
S25R 418 15 S271,181 is
Tatal Comprehensive Income (loss) Attributable To
Shareholders of the parent $26%032 16 262,742 %
Noe-controlling uterests 1288 - RS -
$262.317 16 S268,233 I8
Basic camings per share (Note 427)) 454 $5.00
Diluged enrnings per share (Noje 427)) _S-HN W

The sccompanying noees are an integral part of the consolidssed financial statemems.



BROGENT TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars)

Equity Attnbutable o Sharcholders of the Pasent

Capizal Stock Retained Earmings Other Equity
Equity
ltems Common Stock  Capaal Swrplus Legal Reserve Specsal Reserve L'mg:rﬁ::m! T‘::;T;ﬂ:::‘:::c Treasury Shares i“"lfu.‘::_’t: .Nm‘-conlmlhng Towl Equiry
the Parent
Balance at January 1, 2018 S446. 7840 $2.053 485 $47 250 S751 S3I8 257 (S4.049) {S115.476) S2.746.99% $58,722 S2 805720
Effect of retraspective applicaton - - - - {2.248) - - 2248 - (2,238)
Adjusted balance at January 1. 2018 446,780 20053 485 47.250 751 316000 (4.AN9) (115.476) 2744750 $8.722 2803472
Apprognations of prior year's camings
Lepal reserve - - 26,567 - (26.567) = =~ - - =
Special reserve - - - 4040 {4.049) v . - . .
Cash dividends - - - - (176.976) - - (176.976) - (176,976)
Stock dividends SRARR - - - (88 488} - - - - -
Reversal of speaial reserve . . . (750 751 . . . . .
Adjustments 1o share of changes in equities of
ASSOCIAEES and joinl venturcs - {100y - - - - - (1 - {100y
Net meome in 2018 - - . - 257,168 - - 257168 1,250 ISR AR
Other comprebensive incone {loss) in 2018 - - - - {197) 1061 - 10,864 35 10,899
Toeal comprehensive income in 2018 - - - - 236971 1L - 268 032 | 285 269,317
Retirement of treasury shares (4,344 (26,132) . . (X5.004) . 115476 . . 2
Share-based pasment transactions - 470 - - - - - 470 o9 539
Incresse in non-controlling interests - . - - - - - - 511 5.511
Cash dividends paid to non-controlling mterests - - - - - - - - (2,291) (2.291)
Balance at December 31, 2018 S530).928 $2027.723 STIRIT S4.049 S192.647 S7.012 S- S2.836.176 S63.200 82899 472
D —_— — -_— -
Balance at Sanuary 1, 2017 S446.780 S2.052.669 S37.118 S75tE S173816 (SL.A05) (S115.476) $2.594,050 853,136 S247. 186
Approprations of poiot year's camings
Legal reserve - - 10,135 . (10,135) - = & . =
Cash dividends - - - - 1eat - - (HID610) - (HI0610)
Adjustments to share of changes in equitics of
associates and joint ventuares - %7 - - - - - 3x - 387
Net income in 2017 - - - - 265670 - - 265 670 5511 271,181
Other comprebensive income (loss) in 2017 - - - - (484) 12444 - 12.928) - 12.928)
Total comprehenstve mcame i 2017 - - - - 265, 186 (2 A444) - 262742 5511 268,253
Sharc-based payment ransactions - 420 - - - - - 429 15 304
Balance a1 December 31, 2017 4446, 7840 82,033 485 847 250 S751 S318257 (34.(49) {8115.476) 82,746,998 S3N.722 32,805,720

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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BROGENT TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars)
Items 2018 2017
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Income Before Income Tax §321.127 §327,563
Adjustments for
The items of gains and losses:
Depreciation 35338 46,726
Amortization 38,393 35,713
Reversal of bad debts = (900)
Loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 276 2,400
Interest expense 10713 6,238
Interest meome (11.368) {7,216)
Dividend income - (132)
Compensation cost of share-based payment transactions 539 304
Loss on investment 1n assocrates and jomt veatures accounted for using equity method 2697 1,238
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 44
Unrealized currency exchange gains or loss (13.886) 9,709
Total adjustments for the 1rems of gams and losses 82,702 94,324
Changes in operating assets and liabiliries:
Decrease (increase) in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (233239) (90,192)
Decrease (increase) in notes and accounts recesvable (85,599) 86,496
Decrease (increase) 1n accounts receivable-related parties - 25,681
Decrease (increase) in construction receipts receivable (89.332) (160.611)
Decrease (mcrease) m inventones {10.901) (38.772)
Decrease (increase) n prepayments 12.803) (128.572)
Decrease (increase) n other current assets 25.090) 23,753
Decrease (increase) n other financial assets - 92,637
Decrease (increase) in long-term notes and accounts recesvable - (10.205)
Increase {decrease) in notes payvable (4.484) (74.318)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 74579 (38,750)
Increase (decrease) in construction receipts payable (19.247) 87,806
Increase (decrease) in other payables 7311 21,004
Increase (decrease) in other current liabilities 76,578 (1,680)
Increase (decrease) in net defined benefit liabilitres-noncurrent 81 S0
Net changes m operating assets and Labilities (312,146) (206,143)
Total adjustments 1220.444) (111,319)
Cash generaed from (used 1n) operations 91,683 215,744
Income taxes paid {41.083) (43.279)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 50600 172.465

(Continued)
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BROGENT TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars)

Items 2018 2017
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Acquisitions of financial assets ot fair value through profit or loss-noncurrent (114.048) -
Acquisitions of  financial assets at amortized cost-current (66,303) .
Acquisitions of financial assets at amortized cost-noacurrent (2.817) -
Proceeds from debt investments with no active market - 328252
Acqusitions of investments accounted for using equity method - (2.679)
Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment (166.438) (17.210)
Decrease (increase) in refundable deposits (926) (1.665)
Acqusttions of ntangible asscts (712.875) (9.558)
Decrease (inerease) in other non-curment assets (3.270) (80,264)
Decrease (increase) in prepayments for equipment - 831
Interest received 11,092 T84
Dividend received - 132
Net cash generated from (used in) mvestimg activities (415,587) 165,023
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Increase {decrease) in short-term bank loans - (20,000)
Proceeds from long-term bank loans 520,000 50,000
Repayments of long-term bank loans (32,780) (19.847)
Cash dividends paid (176.976) (110.610)
Interest paid (10,549) (6,190)
Cash dividend paid 1o noncontrolling interests (2.291) -
Increase {decrease) in noncontrolling interests 5.511 -
Net cash (used in} provided by financing activities 302,915 (106,647)
Effect of Exchange Rate Chunges on Cash and Cash Eguivalents 11.774 (2.415)
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (50,298) 228426
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 710,647 482,221
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year $6600.349 ST10.647

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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(Attachment 4)
Comparison Table of the "Articles of Incorporation™ of Brogent

Technologies Inc. before and after Revision

Article Number

Before Revision

After Revision

Description

Articke 14

The Company shall have
five to seven Directors
and one to three
Supervisors, who are
elected during
shareholders' meetings
from among persons of
adequate capacity to
each serve a term of
three years. Their terms
of service may be
renewed if they are
re-elected in the
following election. The
total amount of shares
held by all Directors and
Supervisors of the
Company shall be
determined in
accordance with
regulations of the
competent authority
responsible for
securities.

The Company may
purchase liability
insurance for the
Directors and
Supervisors during their
term of office based on
the compensation
liabilities associated
with their respective
business
accountabilities. The
Board of Directors is
authorized to determine
the insurance coverage
based on industry
practices and standards.
Following the public
offering of the
Company's shares, the
aforementioned
Directors shall consist of
no less than two

The Company shall have five
to seven Directors and one to
three Supervisors, who are
elected during shareholders'
meetings from among persons
of adequate capacity to each
serve a term of three years.
Their terms of service may be
renewed if they are re-elected
in the following election. The
total amount of shares held by
all Directors and Supervisors
of the Company shall be
determined in accordance with
regulations of the competent
authority responsible for
securities.

The aforementioned Directors
shall consist of no less than
two Independent Directors. A
candidate nomination system
shall be adopted in the election
and the Independent Directors
shall be elected by the
shareholders meeting from the
list of candidates. The
guidelines for qualifications,
shareholdings, restrictions on
concurrent posts, nomination,
election and any other matters
to be complied with by the
Independent Directors of the
Company shall be prescribed
by the relevant regulations of

Revised for the
implementation
of corporate
governance.
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Independent Directors
pursuant to Article 14-2
of the Securities and
Exchange Act; a
candidate nomination
system shall be adopted
in the election and the
Independent Directors
shall be elected by the
shareholders meeting
from the list of
candidates. The
guidelines for
qualifications,
shareholdings,
restrictions on
concurrent posts,
nomination, election and
any other matters to be
complied with by the
Independent Directors of
the Company shall be
prescribed by the
relevant regulations of
the competent authority
in charge of securities.

the competent authority in
charge of securities.

From year 2020, the Company
shall have seven to nine

Directors. The aforesaid Board
of Directors must have at least

three independent directors. The
Board of Directors is authorized
to determine the number of
Directors.

The Company may purchase
liability insurance for the
Directors and Supervisors
during their term of office
based on the compensation
liabilities associated with their
respective business
accountabilities. The Board of
Directors is authorized to
determine the insurance
coverage based on industry
practices and standards.

Atticle 25

The Articles of
Incorporation were
established on October
22, 2001.

Omitted.

The sixteenth amendment
was made on May 31,
2016.

The Articles of Incorporation
were established on October
22, 2001.

Omitted.

The eighteenth amendment
was made on May 29, 2018.
The nineteenth amendment
was made on May 29, 2019.

Addition of
amendment
date and
sequence.
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(Attachment 5)
Comparison Table of the " Procedures for the Acquisition or Disposal
of Assets " of Brogent Technologies Inc. before and after Revision

Article Before Revision After Revision Description
Number
Article 3 Scope of Assets Scope of Assets Revised in
I.  Securities: Including|l.  Securities: Including|accordance
investments in stocks, investments in stocks,|with
government bonds, corporate government bonds, corporate;amendment
bonds, financial  bonds, bonds,  financial  bonds,|in laws and
securities representing securities representing interest|regulations.
interest in a fund, depository in a fund, depository receipts,
receipts, call (put) warrants, call (put) warrants, beneficial
beneficial interest securities, interest securities, and
and asset-backed securities. asset-backed securities.
Il. Real estate (including land,|ll. Real estate (including land,
houses and buildings, houses and buildings, and
investment property;—ane-and investment  property) and
use-rights) and equipment. equipment.
1. Memberships. I1l.  Memberships.
IV. Intangible assets: Including|lV. Intangible assets: Including
patents, copyrights, patents, copyrights,
trademarks, franchise rights, trademarks, franchise rights,
and other intangible assets. and other intangible assets.
V. Claims of financial|\VV.  Right-of-use assets.
institutions (including|VI. Claims of financial
receivables, bills purchased institutions (including
and discounted, loans, and receivables, bills purchased
overdue receivables). and discounted, loans, and
VI. Derivatives. overdue receivables).
VII. Assets acquired or disposed|VIIl. Derivatives.
of in connection  with|VIII. Assets acquired or
mergers, demergers, disposed of in connection
acquisitions, or transfer of with  mergers, demergers,
shares in accordance with the acquisitions, or transfer of
law. shares in accordance with the
VIII. Other major assets. law.
IX. Other major assets.

Article 4 Terms and Definitions Terms and Definitions Revised in
I.  Derivatives: Refer to forward|l.  Derivatives: Refer to forward|accordance
contracts, options contracts, contracts, options contracts,|with
futures contracts, leverage futures contracts, leveragelamendment
contracts, and swap contracts, contracts, and swap contracts,|in laws and
and compound contracts whose value is derived from a|regulations.

combining the above specified interest rate,
products, whose value is financial instrument price,
derived from assets, interest commodity price, foreign

rates, foreign exchange rates,
indexes or other interests. The
term "forward contracts" does

exchange rates, price or fee
rate, indexes, credit rating,
credit indexes, or other

-24 -




not include insurance
contracts, performance
contracts, after-sales service
contracts, long-term leasing

contracts, or  long-term
purchase (sales) agreements.
Assets acquired or disposed
of in connection with
mergers, demergers,
acquisitions, or transfer of
shares in accordance with
law: Refers to assets acquired
or disposed through mergers,
demergers, or acquisitions
conducted under the Business

Mergers and Acquisitions
Act, Financial  Holding
Company Act, Financial

Institution Merger Act and
other laws, or the transfer of
shares from another company
through issuance of new
shares of its own as the
consideration therefor
(hereinafter ~ “transfer  of
shares") under Paragraph 8,
Article 156 of the Company
Act.

Related party or subsidiary:
As defined in the provisions
of the Regulations Governing
the Preparation of Financial
Reports by Securities Issuers.
Professional appraiser: Refers
to a real estate appraiser or
other person duly authorized
by law to engage in the value
appraisal of real estate and
equipment.

Date of occurrence: Refers to
the date of contract signing,
date of payment, date of
consignment execution, date
of transfer, dates of Board of
Directors resolutions, or other
date that can confirm the
counterparty and monetary
amount of the transaction,
whichever date is earlier.
However, for investments for
which  approval of the

V.

variables; hybrid contracts
combining the above
contracts; or hybrid contracts

or structured products
containing embedded
derivatives. The term

"forward contracts” does not
include insurance contracts,
performance contracts,
after-sales service contracts,
long-term leasing contracts, or
long-term  purchase (sales)
contracts.

Assets acquired or disposed of
in connection with mergers,
demergers, acquisitions, or
transfer ~ of  shares in
accordance with law: Refers
to assets acquired or disposed
through mergers, demergers,
or acquisitions conducted
under the Business Mergers

and Acquisitions Act,
Financial Holding Company
Act, Financial Institution

Merger Act and other laws, or
the transfer of shares from
another company through
issuance of new shares of its
own as the consideration
therefor (hereinafter "transfer
of shares") under Article
156-3 of the Company Act.
Related party or subsidiary:
As defined in the provisions
of the Regulations Governing
the Preparation of Financial
Reports by Securities Issuers.
Professional appraiser: Refers
to a real estate appraiser or
other person duly authorized
by law to engage in the value
appraisal of real estate and
equipment.

Date of occurrence: Refers to
the date of contract signing,
date of payment, date of
consignment execution, date
of transfer, dates of Board of
Directors resolutions, or other
date that can confirm the
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competent  authority is
required, the earlier of the
above date or the date of
receipt of approval by the
competent authority shall
apply.

VI. Investment in the Mainland
China region: Refers to
investments in the Mainland
China region approved by the
Investment Commission,
Ministry of Economic Affairs
or conducted in accordance
with the provisions of the
Regulations Governing
Permission for Investment or
Technical Cooperation in the
Mainland Area.

counterparty and monetary
amount of the transaction,
whichever date is earlier.
However, for investments for
which  approval of the
competent authority is
required, the earlier of the
above date or the date of
receipt of approval by the
competent  authority  shall
apply.

VI. Investment in the Mainland
China region: Refers to
investments in the Mainland
China region approved by the
Investment Commission,
Ministry of Economic Affairs
or conducted in accordance
with the provisions of the
Regulations Governing
Permission for Investment or
Technical Cooperation in the
Mainland Area.

Article 6

Professional appraisers and their
officers, certified public accounts,
attorneys, and
underwriters that provide public

securities

companies with appraisal reports,
certified public
opinions, attorney's opinions, or
underwriter's opinions shall not be

accountant's

a related party of any party to the
transaction.

Professional appraisers and their
officers, certified public accounts,
attorneys, and securities
underwriters that provide public
companies with appraisal reports,
certified public accountant’s
opinions, attorney's opinions, or
underwriter's opinions shall meet
the following criteria:

l. May not have previously
received a final and
unappealable  sentence to
imprisonment for 1 year or
longer for a violation of the
Act, the Company Act, the
Banking Act of The Republic
of China, the Insurance Act,
the Financial Holding
Company Act, or the Business
Entity Accounting Act, or for
fraud, breach of trust,
embezzlement, forgery of
documents, or occupational
crime. However, this

Revised in
accordance
with
amendment
in laws and
regulations.

-26-




provision does not apply if 3
years have already passed
since completion of service of
the sentence, since expiration
of the period of a suspended
sentence, or since a pardon
was received.

May not be a related party or
de facto related party of any
party to the transaction.

If the Company is required to
obtain appraisal reports from
two or more professional
appraisers,  the  different
professional appraisers or
appraisal officers may not be
related parties or de facto
related parties of each other.

When issuing an appraisal report or
opinion, the personnel referred to in

the

preceding paragraph shall

comply with the following:

Prior to accepting a case, they
shall prudently assess their
own professional capabilities,
practical  experience, and
independence.

When examining a case, they
shall appropriately plan and
execute adequate working
procedures in order to
produce a conclusion and use
the conclusion as the basis for
issuing the report or opinion.
The related working
procedures, data collected,
and conclusion shall be fully
and accurately specified in the
case’s working papers.

They shall undertake an
item-by-item evaluation of the
comprehensiveness, accuracy,
and reasonableness of the
sources of data used, the
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parameters, and the
information as the basis for
issuance of the appraisal
report or the opinion.

They shall issue a statement
attesting to the professional
competence and independence
of the personnel who prepared
the report or opinion, that they
have evaluated and found that
the information used is
reasonable and accurate, and
that they have complied with
applicable laws and
regulations.

Subparagraph
3, Paragraph
2, Article 7

(1) 1. The acquisition or disposal

of real estate shall take into
reference the publicly
announced current value,
assessed value, and the actual
transaction price of nearby
real estate to determine
transaction conditions and
price, which shall be included
in an analysis report to be
submitted to the Chairperson
for approval. The acquisition
or disposal may only be
implemented following
approval in the next Board of
Directors meeting.

The acquisition or disposal of
equipment shall be conducted
through one of the following
methods: price inquiry, price
comparison, price negotiation
or tendering. Acquisition or
disposal under NT$1 million
(inclusive) shall be filed for
approval in accordance with
the authorization regulations
and  submitted to the
President  for  approval;
acquisition or disposal valued
at over NT$1 million may

(1IN 1. The acquisition or disposal of

real estate and right-of-use

assets thereof shall take into
reference the publicly
announced current  value,

assessed value, and the actual
transaction price of nearby
real estate and right-of-use
assets thereof to determine
transaction  conditions and
price, which shall be included
in an analysis report to be
submitted to the Chairperson
for approval. The acquisition
or disposal may only be
implemented following
approval in the next Board of
Directors meeting.

The acquisition or disposal of
equipment shall be conducted
through one of the following
methods: price inquiry, price
comparison, price negotiation
or tendering. Acquisition or
disposal under NT$1 million
(inclusive) shall be filed for
approval in accordance with
the authorization regulations
and submitted to the President
for approval; acquisition or

only be implemented disposal valued at over NT$1
following approval from the million may only be
Chairperson. implemented following
(1) Total amounts of real estate approval from the

Revised in
accordance
with
amendment
in laws and
regulations.
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or securities acquired by the
Company and each subsidiary
for purposes other than
business use, and limits on
individual securities
investments shall be subject
to the following restrictions:

1.  Total amount of real estate for
purposes other than business
use may not exceed thirty
percent (30%) of the net
value of the Company's most
recent financial statements.

2. Total amount of securities
may not exceed forty percent
(40%) of the net value of the
Company's  most  recent
financial statements.

3. The maximum amount of
individual securities may not
exceed thirty percent (30%)
of the net value of the
Company's  most  recent
financial statements.

Chairperson.
Total amounts of real estate
and right-of-use assets thereof
or securities acquired by the
Company and each subsidiary
for purposes other than
business use and limits on
individual securities
investments shall be subject to
the following restrictions:

1.  Total amount of real estate for
purposes other than business
use may not exceed thirty
percent (30%) of the net value
of the Company's most recent
financial statements.

2. Total amount of securities
may not exceed forty percent
(40%) of the net value of the
Company's  most  recent
financial statements.

The maximum amount of
individual securities may not
exceed thirty percent (30%) of
the net wvalue of the
Company's  most  recent
financial statements.

D)

w

Paragraph 4,
Article 7

IV. Appraisal report of real estate
or equipment
In acquiring or disposing of real
estate or equipment, where the
transaction amount reaches 20
percent (20%) of the Company's
paid-in capital or NT$300 million
or more, the Company, unless
transacting with a government
agency, engaging others to build on
its own land, engaging others to
build on rented land, or acquiring
or disposing of machinery or
equipment for business use, shall
obtain an appraisal report prior to
the date of occurrence of the event
from a professional appraiser and

shall further comply with the
following provisions:
() Where due to special

circumstances it is necessary
to give a specific market

IV.  Appraisal report of real estate
or equipment
In acquiring or disposing of real
estate, equipment, or right-of-use
assets thereof where the transaction
amount reaches 20 percent (20%)
of the Company's paid-in capital or
NT$300 million or more, the
Company, unless transacting with a
domestic  government  agency,
engaging others to build on its own
land, engaging others to build on
rented land, or acquiring or
disposing of equipment for business
use or right-of-use assets thereof,
shall obtain an appraisal report
prior to the date of occurrence of
the event from a professional
appraiser and shall further comply
with the following provisions:
() Where due to special
circumstances it is necessary

Revised in
accordance
with
amendment
in laws and
regulations.
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Q)

(1)

value or specified market
value as a reference basis for
the transaction price, the
transaction shall be submitted
for approval in advance by
the Board of Directors, and
the same procedure shall
apply to any future changes to
the terms and conditions of
the transaction.

Where the transaction amount
is NT$1 billion or more,
appraisals from two or more
professional appraisers shall
be obtained.

Where any one of the
following circumstances
applies with respect to the
professional appraiser's
appraisal results, unless all
the appraisal results for the
assets to be acquired are
higher than the transaction
amount, or all the appraisal
results for the assets to be
disposed of are lower than the
transaction amount, a
certified public accountant
shall be engaged to perform
the appraisal in accordance
with  the provisions of
Statements on  Auditing
Standards No. 20 published
by the Accounting Research
and Development Foundation
in Taiwan (ARDF) and render
a specific opinion regarding
the reason for the discrepancy
and the appropriateness of the
transaction price:

The discrepancy between the
appraisal result and the
transaction amount is 20
percent or more of the
transaction amount.

The discrepancy between the
appraisal results of two or
more professional appraisers
is 10 percent or more of the
transaction amount.

(IV) No more than 3 months may

(1

(1)

to give a specific market value
or specified market value as a
reference  basis for the
transaction price, the
transaction shall be submitted
for approval in advance by the
Board of Directors, and the
same procedure shall apply
when seeking to make any
subsequent changes to the
terms and conditions of the
transaction.

Where the transaction amount
is NT$1 billion or more,
appraisals from two or more
professional appraisers shall
be obtained.

Where any one of the
following circumstances
applies with respect to the
professional appraiser's
appraisal results, unless all the
appraisal results for the assets
to be acquired are higher than
the transaction amount, or all
the appraisal results for the
assets to be disposed of are
lower than the transaction
amount, a certified public
accountant shall be engaged
to perform the appraisal in
accordance with the
provisions of Statements on
Auditing Standards No. 20
published by the Accounting
Research and Development
Foundation in Taiwan
(ARDF) and render a specific
opinion regarding the reason
for the discrepancy and the
appropriateness of the
transaction price:

The discrepancy between the

appraisal result and the
transaction amount is 20
percent or more of the

transaction amount.

The discrepancy between the
appraisal results of two or
more professional appraisers
is 10 percent or more of the
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elapse between the date of the
appraisal report issued by a
professional appraiser and the
contract ~ execution  date.
However, where the publicly
announced current value for
the same period is used and
not more than 6 months have
elapsed, an opinion may still
be issued by the original
professional appraiser.

transaction amount.

No more than 3 months may
elapse between the date of the
appraisal report issued by a
professional appraiser and the
contract  execution  date.
However, where the publicly
announced current value for
the same period is used and
not more than 6 months have
elapsed, an opinion may still
be issued by the original
professional appraiser.

(IV)

Paragraph 6,
Article 7

VI. Expert Opinion Report on
Memberships or Intangible
Assets

Where the Company acquires or
disposes of memberships or
intangible  assets and  the
transaction amount reaches 20
percent (20%) or more of the
Company’s paid-in  capital or
NT$300 million or more, except in
transactions with a government
agency, the Company shall engage
a certified public accountant prior
to the date of occurrence of the
event to render an opinion on the
reasonableness of the transaction
price; the CPA shall comply with
the provisions of Statements on
Auditing  Standards No. 20
published by the Accounting
Research and Development
Foundation in Taiwan (ARDF).

VI. Expert Opinion Report on
Memberships or Intangible
Assets

Where the Company acquires or
disposes of intangible assets,
right-of-use assets thereof, or
memberships and the transaction
amount reaches 20 percent or more
of the Company’s paid-in capital or
NT$300 million or more, except in
transactions with a  domestic
government agency, the Company
shall engage a certified public
accountant prior to the date of
occurrence of the event to render an
opinion on the reasonableness of
the transaction price; the CPA shall
comply with the provisions of
Statements on Auditing Standards
No. 20 published by the Accounting
Research and Development
Foundation in Taiwan (ARDF).

Revised in
accordance
with
amendment
in laws and
regulations.

Paragraph 2,
Article 8

Il. Assessment and Operating
Procedures
Where the Company acquires or
disposes of real estate from or to a
related party, or acquires or
disposes of assets other than real
estate from or to a related party and
the transaction amount reaches 20
percent (20%) or more of the
Company’s paid-in capital, 10
percent (10%) or more of the
Company's total assets, or NT$300
million or more, except in trading
of government bonds or bonds
under repurchase and resale
agreements, or subscription or

Il.  Assessment and Operating
Procedures
Where the Company acquires or
disposes of real estate or
right-of-use assets thereof from or
to a related party, or acquires or
disposes of assets other than real
estate or right-of-use assets thereof
from or to a related party and the
transaction amount reaches 20
percent (20%) or more of the
Company’s paid-in capital, 10
percent (10%) or more of the
Company's total assets, or NT$300
million or more, except in trading
of domestic government bonds or

Revised in
accordance
with
amendment
in laws and
regulations.
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redemption of money market funds

issued by domestic securities

investment trust enterprises, the

Company may not proceed to enter

into a transaction contract or make

a payment until the following

matters have been approved by the

Board of Directors and ratified by

the Supervisors:

() The purpose, necessity and
anticipated benefit of the
acquisition or disposal of
assets and/orreal-estate.

(1) The reason for choosing the
related party as a trading
counterparty.

(1 Wwith respect to the

acquisition of real estate from
a related party, information
regarding appraisal of the
reasonableness of the
preliminary transaction terms
in accordance with
Subparagraphs (1) and (4),
Paragraph 3 of this Article.
The date and price at which
the related party originally
acquired the real estate, the
original trading counterparty,
and that trading
counterparty's relationship to
the Company and the related
party.

Monthly cash flow forecasts
for the year commencing
from the anticipated month of
signing of the contract,
evaluation of the necessity of
the transaction, and
reasonableness  of  fund
utilization.

(VI) An appraisal report from a
professional appraiser or a
CPA's opinion obtained in
compliance with the
preceding Article.

Restrictive covenants and
other important stipulations
associated with the
transaction.

The calculation of the "transaction

(V)

V)

(VII)

bonds under repurchase and resale
agreements, or subscription or
redemption of money market funds
issued by domestic securities
investment trust enterprises, the
Company may not proceed to enter
into a transaction contract or make
a payment until the following
matters have been approved by the
Board of Directors and ratified by
the Supervisors:
() The purpose, necessity and
anticipated benefit of the
acquisition or disposal of
assets.
The reason for choosing the
related party as a trading
counterparty.
With respect to the acquisition
of real estate or right-of-use
assets thereof from a related
party, information regarding
appraisal of the
reasonableness of the
preliminary transaction terms
in accordance with
Subparagraphs (1) and (4),
Paragraph 3 of this Article.
The date and price at which
the related party originally
acquired the real estate, the
original trading counterparty,
and that trading counterparty's
relationship to the Company
and the related party.
Monthly cash flow forecasts
for the year commencing from
the anticipated month of
signing of the contract,
evaluation of the necessity of
the transaction, and
reasonableness  of  fund
utilization.
An appraisal report from a
professional appraiser or a
CPA's opinion obtained in
compliance with the
preceding Article.

Restrictive covenants and
other important stipulations
associated with the

(1)

(1)

(V)

V)

(V)

(VII)
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amount” referred to in the
preceding paragraph shall be made
in accordance with Paragraph 1,
Article 11 herein, and "within the
preceding year" as used herein
refers to the year preceding the date
of occurrence of the current
transaction. Items that have been
approved by the Board of Directors
and ratified by the Supervisors in
accordance with the provisions of
the Standards need not be counted
toward the transaction amount.
With respect to the acquisition or
disposal of equipment for business
use between the Company and its
subsidiaries, the Company's Board
of Directors may, pursuant to
Subparagraph 2, Paragraph 2,
Article 7, delegate the Chairperson
of the Board to decide such matters
when the transaction is within a
certain amount and have the
decisions subsequently submitted
to and retroactively ratified by the
next Board of Directors meeting.

transaction.

The calculation of the "transaction
amount™ referred to in the
preceding paragraph shall be made
in accordance with Paragraph 1,
Article 11 herein, and "within the
preceding year" as used herein
refers to the year preceding the date
of occurrence of the current
transaction. Items that have been
approved by the Board of Directors
and ratified by the Supervisors in
accordance with the provisions of
the Standards need not be counted
toward the transaction amount.

With respect to the types of
transactions listed below, when
conducted between the Company
and its subsidiaries, or between its
subsidiaries in which it directly or
indirectly holds 100 percent (100%)
of the issued shares or authorized
capital, the Company's Board of
Directors may, pursuant to
Subparagraph 2, Paragraph 2,
Acrticle 7, delegate the Chairperson
of the Board to decide such matters
when the transaction is within a
certain amount and have the
decisions subsequently submitted to
and ratified by the next Board of
Directors meeting.

() Acquisition or disposal of
equipment or right-of-use
assets thereof held for
business use.
(I1)  Acquisition or disposal of real
estate right-of-use assets held
for business use.
Paragraph 3, [Il1l. Appraisal of the(lll.  Appraisal of the|Revised in
Article 8 reasonableness of the reasonableness of the|accordance
transaction price transaction price with
()  When the Company acquires|{(I) When the Company acquiresjamendment
real estate from a related real estate or right-of-use|in laws and
party, it shall evaluate the assets thereof from a related|regulations.
reasonableness of the party, it shall evaluate the
transaction costs by the reasonableness of the
following means: transaction costs by the

1.  Based upon the related party's
transaction price plus
necessary interest on funding

following means:
1.  Based upon the related party's
transaction price plus
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(1

()

and the costs to be duly borne

by the buyer. ‘“Necessary
interest on funding” s
imputed as the weighted
average interest rate on
borrowing in the year the
Company  purchases the

property; provided, it may not
be higher than the maximum
non-financial industry
lending rate announced by the
Ministry of Finance.

Total loan value appraisal
from a financial institution
where the related party has
previously created a mortgage
on the property as security for
a loan; provided, the actual
cumulative amount loaned by
the financial institution shall
have been 70 percent or more
of the financial institution's
appraised loan value of the
property and the period of the
loan shall have been 1 year or
more. However, this shall not
apply where the financial
institution is a related party of

one of the trading
counterparties.
Where land and buildings

thereupon are combined as a
single property purchased in
one transaction, the
transaction costs for the land
and the buildings may be
separately  appraised in
accordance with either of the
means listed in the preceding
paragraph.

When the Company acquires
real estate from a related
party and appraises the cost
of the real estate in
accordance with
Subparagraphs (1) and (2),
Paragraph 3 of this Atrticle, it
shall also engage a CPA to
review the appraisal and
render a specific opinion.

2.

(1)

(1

necessary interest on funding
and the costs to be duly borne

by the buyer. “Necessary
interest on  funding” is
imputed as the weighted
average interest rate on
borrowing in the year the
Company  purchases  the

property; provided, it may not
be higher than the maximum
non-financial industry lending
rate  announced by the
Ministry of Finance.

Total loan value appraisal
from a financial institution
where the related party has
previously created a mortgage
on the property as security for
a loan; provided, the actual
cumulative amount loaned by
the financial institution shall
have been 70 percent or more
of the financial institution's
appraised loan value of the
property and the period of the
loan shall have been 1 year or
more. However, this shall not
apply where the financial
institution is a related party of

one of the trading
counterparties.
Where land and buildings

thereupon are combined as a
single property purchased or
leased in one transaction, the
transaction costs for the land
and the buildings may be
separately  appraised in
accordance with either of the
means listed in the preceding

paragraph.
When the Company acquires
real estate or right-of-use

assets thereof from a related
party and appraises the cost of
the real estate or right-of-use
assets thereof in accordance
with Subparagraphs (1) and
(2), Paragraph 3 of this
Article, it shall also engage a
CPA to review the appraisal
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(IV) Where the Company acquires

V)

real estate from a related
party and one of the
following circumstances

exists, the acquisition shall
only be required for
implementation in accordance
with Paragraphs 1 and 2 of
this Article regarding
appraisal and  operating
procedures, and the
regulations on the
reasonableness of the
transaction cost provided in
Subparagraphs (1), (2), and
(3), Paragraph 3 shall not
apply:

The related party acquired the
real estate through inheritance
or as a gift.

More than 5 years will have
elapsed from the time the
related party signed the
contract to obtain the real
estate to the signing date for
the current transaction.

The real estate is acquired
through signing of a joint
development contract with
the related party, or through
engaging a related party to
build real estate, either on the
Company's own land or on
rented land.

When the Company acquires
real estate from a related
party and appraises the cost
of the real estate in
accordance with
Subparagraphs (1) and (2),
Paragraph 3 of this Article,
and the results are uniformly
lower than the transaction
price, the matter shall be
handled in compliance with
the regulations in
Subparagraph (6), Paragraph
3 of this Article. However,
where the following
circumstances exist, objective

(IV)

2.

V)

and render a specific opinion.
Where the Company acquires
real estate from a related party
and one of the following
circumstances  exists, the
acquisition shall only be
required for implementation
in accordance with Paragraphs
1 and 2 of this Atrticle

regarding  appraisal  and
operating procedures, and the
regulations on the
reasonableness of the

transaction cost provided in
Subparagraphs (1), (2), and
(3), Paragraph 3 shall not
apply:

The related party acquired the
real estate or right-of-use
assets thereof through
inheritance or as a gift.

More than 5 years will have
elapsed from the time the
related party signed the
contract to obtain the real
estate or right-of-use assets
thereof to the signing date for
the current transaction.

The real estate is acquired
through signing of a joint
development contract with the
related party, or through
engaging a related party to
build real estate, either on the
Company's own land or on
rented land.

The real estate right-of-use
assets for business use are
acquired by a public company
from its parent or subsidiaries,
or by its subsidiaries in which
it directly or indirectly holds
100 percent of the issued
shares or authorized capital.
When the Company acquires
real estate from a related party
and appraises the cost of the
real estate in accordance with
Subparagraphs (1) and (2),
Paragraph 3 of this Article,
and the results are uniformly
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1)

)

evidence has been submitted
and specific opinions on
reasonableness have been
obtained from a professional
real estate appraiser and a
CPA, this restriction shall not
apply:

Where the related party
acquired undeveloped land or
leased land for development,
it may submit proof of
compliance with one of the
following conditions:

Where undeveloped land is
appraised in accordance with
the means in the preceding
Article, and buildings
according to the related
party's construction cost plus
reasonable construction profit
are valued in excess of the
actual transaction price. The
"reasonable construction
profit" shall be deemed the
average gross operating profit
margin of the related party's
construction division over the
most recent 3 years or the
gross profit margin for the
construction industry for the
most  recent period as
announced by the Ministry of
Finance, whichever is lower.
Completed deals by unrelated
parties within the preceding
year involving other floors of
the same  property or
neighboring or closely valued
parcels of land, where the
land area and transaction
terms are similar after
calculation of reasonable
price discrepancies in floor or
area land prices in accordance
with standard property market
practices.

1)

()

lower than the transaction

price, the matter shall be
handled in compliance with
the regulations in

Subparagraph (6), Paragraph
3 of this Article. However,
where the following
circumstances exist, objective
evidence has been submitted
and specific opinions on
reasonableness have been
obtained from a professional
real estate appraiser and a
CPA, this restriction shall not
apply:

Where the related party
acquired undeveloped land or
leased land for development,
it may submit proof of
compliance with one of the
following conditions:

Where undeveloped land is
appraised in accordance with
the means in the preceding
Article, and buildings
according to the related
party's construction cost plus
reasonable construction profit
are valued in excess of the
actual transaction price. The
"reasonable construction
profit* shall be deemed the
average gross operating profit
margin of the related party's
construction division over the
most recent 3 years or the
gross profit margin for the
construction industry for the
most  recent  period as
announced by the Ministry of
Finance, whichever is lower.
Completed transactions by
unrelated parties within the
preceding year involving
other floors of the same
property or neighboring or
closely valued parcels of land,
where the land area and
transaction terms are similar
after calculation of reasonable
price discrepancies in floor or




(V1)

| : I ”
standard  property  leasing
market practices:

Where the Company acquires
real estate from a related
party and provides evidence
that the terms of the
transaction are similar to the
terms of transactions
completed for the acquisition
of neighboring or closely
valued parcels of land of a
similar size by unrelated
parties within the preceding
year. “Completed deals for
neighboring or closely valued
parcels of land” in the
preceding  paragraph  in
principle refers to parcels on
the same or an adjacent block
and within a distance of no
more than 500 meters or
parcels close in publicly
announced current  value;
transaction for “parcels of]
land of a similar size” in
principle refers to
transactions completed by
unrelated parties for parcels
with a land area of no less

than 50 percent of the
property in the planned
transaction;  “within  the

preceding year” refers to the
year preceding the date of
occurrence of the acquisition
of the real estate.

When the Company acquires
real estate from a related
party and appraises the cost
of the real estate in
accordance with
Subparagraphs (1) and (2),
Paragraph 3 of this Article,
and the results are uniformly
lower than the transaction
price, the following items
shall be carried out. Where

2.

(V)

area land prices in accordance
with standard property market
or leasing practices.

Where the Company acquires
real estate, or acquires real
estate  right-of-use  assets
through leasing from a related
party and provides evidence
that the terms of the
transaction are similar to the
terms of completed
transactions for the
acquisition or leasing of
neighboring or closely valued
parcels of land of a similar
size by wunrelated parties
within the preceding year.
“Completed transactions for
neighboring or closely valued
parcels of land” in the
preceding  paragraph in
principle refers to parcels on
the same or an adjacent block
and within a distance of no
more than 500 meters or
parcels close in publicly
announced current  value;
transaction for “parcels of]
land of a similar size” in
principle refers to transactions
completed by  unrelated
parties for parcels with a land
area of no less than 50 percent
of the property in the planned
transaction; “within  the
preceding year” refers to the
year preceding the date of
occurrence of the acquisition
of the real estate or
right-of-use assets thereof.

When the Company acquires
real estate or right-of-use
assets thereof from a related
party and appraises the cost of
the real estate in accordance
with Subparagraphs (1) and
(2), Paragraph 3 of the
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the Company uses the equity
method to account for its
investment in a public
company that has set aside a
special reserve under the
preceding paragraph and may
not utilize the special reserve
until it has recognized a loss
on decline in market value of
the assets it purchased at a
premium; they have been
disposed of; adequate
compensation has been made;
the status quo ante has been
restored, or there is other
evidence confirming that
there was nothing
unreasonable  about  the
transaction, and the FSC has
given its consent.

The Company shall set aside
a  special  reserve in
accordance with Paragraph 1,
Article 41 of the Securities
and Exchange Act against the
difference Dbetween the real
estate transaction price and
the appraised cost, and it may
not be distributed or used for
capital increase or issuance of
bonus shares. Where a public
company uses the equity
method to account for its
investment in another
company, then the special
reserve called for under
Paragraph 1, Article 41 of the
Securities and Exchange Act
shall be set aside pro rata in a
proportion consistent with the
share of public company's
equity stake in the other
company.

Supervisors shall comply
with  Article 218 of the
Company Act.

Actions taken pursuant to
Iltem 1 and Item 2 of the
Subparagraph shall be
reported to a shareholders
meeting, and the details of the

preceding Article, and the
results are uniformly lower
than the transaction price, the
following items shall be
carried out. Where the
Company uses the equity
method to account for its
investment in a public
company that has set aside a
special reserve under the
preceding paragraph and may
not utilize the special reserve
until it has recognized a loss
on decline in market value of
the assets it purchased at a
premium; they have been
disposed of; adequate
compensation has been made;
the status quo ante has been
restored, or there is other
evidence confirming that there
was nothing unreasonable
about the transaction, and the
FSC has given its consent.
The Company shall set aside a
special reserve in accordance
with Paragraph 1, Article 41
of the  Securities and
Exchange Act against the
difference between the
appraised cost and the
transaction price of real estate
or right-of-use assets thereof,
and may not be distributed or
used for capital increase or
issuance of bonus shares.
Where a public company uses
the equity method to account
for its investment in another
company, then the special
reserve called for under
Paragraph 1, Article 41 of the
Securities and Exchange Act
shall be set aside pro rata in a
proportion consistent with the
share of public company's
equity stake in the other
company.

Supervisors shall comply with
Article 218 of the Company
Act.
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transaction shall be disclosed
in the annual report and any
investment prospectus.

When the Company
obtains real estate from a
related party, it shall also
comply with Subparagraph
(6), Paragraph 3 of the Article
if there is other evidence
indicating that the transaction
was inconsistent with
business practice.

(VII)

3. Actions taken pursuant to
ltem 1 and Item 2 of the
Subparagraph shall be
reported to a shareholders
meeting, and the details of the
transaction shall be disclosed
in the annual report and any
investment prospectus.

When the  Company
obtains  real estate or
right-of-use  assets thereof
from a related party, it shall
also comply with
Subparagraph (6), Paragraph
3 of the Article if there is
other evidence indicating that

(VII)

the transaction was
inconsistent  with  business
practice.
Paragraph 3, [Ill. Internal auditing system I11. Internal auditing system Revised in
Article 9 Internal auditing personnel shall|{internal auditing personnel shalljaccordance
periodically study the|periodically study the|with
appropriateness of internal controljappropriateness of internal controljamendment
of derivatives transactions and|of derivatives transactions and|in laws and
conduct monthly inspections on the|conduct monthly inspections on the|regulations.
compliance of procedures of|compliance of procedures of
departments trading derivatives in|departments trading derivatives in
order to analyze transaction cycles|order to analyze transaction cycles
and formulate Audit Reports. In theland formulate Audit Reports. In the
event of major violations, thelevent of major violations, the
Supervisors shall be notified in|{Supervisors shall be notified in
writing. writing.
Where independent directors have
been appointed in accordance with
the provisions of the Act, for
matters for which notice shall be
given to the supervisors under the
preceding paragraph, written notice
shall also be given to the
independent directors.
Where an Audit Committee has
been established in accordance with
the provisions of the Act, the
provisions of Paragraph 2 relating
to supervisors shall apply mutatis
mutandis to the Audit Committee.
Paragraph 1, |I. If the following conditionsil. If the following conditions|Revised in
Article 11 occur in the Company's occur in  the Company'sjaccordance
acquisition or disposal of acquisition or disposal of|with
assets, related information assets, related information|amendment
shall, in accordance with its shall, in accordance with its|in laws and
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0

(1

(1)

(V)

nature and prescribed format,
be input into the Market
Observation  Post  System
(MOPS) within two days of
the occurrence of the fact:

Where the Company acquires
or disposes of real estate from
or to a related party, or
acquires or disposes of assets
other than real estate from or
to a related party and the
transaction amount reaches
20 percent (20%) or more of
the  Company’s  paid-in
capital, 10 percent (10%) or
more of the Company's total
assets, or NT$300 million or
more. This, however, shall
not apply to trading of
government bonds or bonds
under repurchase and resale
agreements, or subscription

or redemption of money
market funds issued by
domestic securities
investment trust enterprises.
Merger, demerger,
acquisition, or transfer of
shares.

Derivative transactions that

accumulate losses beyond the
portfolio limits or individual
limits specified in the
Company’s procedures.

Where the type—of-asset

consists in equipment for business
use and is acquired or disposed, the
trading counterparty is not a related
party, and the transaction amount

fulfills one of the following
conditions:
1. Where the Company's paid-in

capital is less than NT$10
billion and the transaction
amount is more than NT$500
million.

Where the Company's paid-in
capital is more than NT$10
billion and the transaction
amount is more than NT$1
billion.

(M

(1)
D)

(V)

2.

nature and prescribed format,
be input into the Market
Observation  Post  System
(MOPS) within two days of
the occurrence of the fact:
Where the Company acquires
or disposes of real estate or
right-of-use  assets thereof
from or to a related party, or
acquires or disposes of assets
other than real estate or
right-of-use assets thereof
from or to a related party and
the  transaction amount
reaches 20 percent (20%) or
more of the Company’s
paid-in capital, 10 percent
(10%) or more of the
Company's total assets, or
NT$300 million or more. This
however shall not apply to
trading of domestic
government bonds or bonds
under repurchase and resale
agreements, or subscription or
redemption of money market
funds issued by domestic
securities  investment  trust
enterprises.

Merger, demerger, acquisition,
or transfer of shares.
Derivative transactions that
accumulate losses beyond the
portfolio limits or individual
limits  specified in the
Company’s procedures.

Where equipment for business
use or right-of-use assets
thereof are acquired or
disposed, the trading
counterparty is not a related
party, and the transaction
amount fulfills one of the
following conditions:

Where the Company's paid-in
capital is less than NT$10
billion and the transaction
amount is more than NT$500
million.

Where the Company's paid-in
capital is more than NT$10

regulations.
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(V) Where the type of asset

acquired or disposed by a
public company that engages
in the construction business
consists in real estate for
construction use, the trading
counterparty is not a related
party, and the transaction
amount is more than NT$500
million.

(V1) Where real estate is acquired

under an arrangement on
engaging others to build on
the Company's own land,
engaging others to build on
rented land, joint construction
and allocation of housing
units, joint construction and

allocation  of  ownership
percentages, or joint
construction and separate

sale, and the amount the
Company expects to invest in
the transaction is more than
NT$500 million.

Asset transactions other
than those referred to in the
preceding six subparagraphs,
disposal of claims by a
financial institution, or an
investment in the Mainland
China region, where such
transaction reaches 20 percent
(20%) or more of the
Company’s paid-in capital or
NT$300 million. The above
shall however not apply to the
following circumstances:
Trading of  government
bonds.

Securities trading through
professional investment on
foreign-or-domestic securities
exchanges or places of
business of securities firms,
subscription and issuance of
regular corporate bonds on
the domestic primary market
and regular financial bonds
that do not  involve
shareholding rights, or

V)

(V)

(VII)

billion and the transaction
amount is more than NT$1
billion.
Acquisition or disposal by a
public company that engages
in the construction business of
real property or right-of-use
assets thereof for construction
use, the trading counterparty
is not a related party, and the
transaction amount is more
than NT$500 million; and
among such cases, where a
public company has paid-in
capital of NT$10 billion or
more and is disposing of real
property from a completed
construction project that it
constructed itself, the trading
counterparty is not a related
party, and the transaction
amount is more than NT$1
billion.
Where real estate is acquired
under an arrangement on
engaging others to build on
the Company's own land,
engaging others to build on
rented land, joint construction
and allocation of housing
units, joint construction and
allocation  of  ownership
percentages, or joint
construction and separate sale,
the trading counterparty is not
a related party, and the
amount the Company expects
to invest in the transaction is
more than NT$500 million.
Asset transactions other
than those referred to in the
preceding six subparagraphs,
disposal of claims by a
financial institution, or an
investment in the Mainland
China region, where such
transaction reaches 20 percent
(20%) or more of the
Company’s paid-in capital or
NT$300 million. The above
shall however not apply to the
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subscription  of  securities
required by the Taipei
Exchange due to the
underwriting business

requirements of a securities
firm or from an advisory
recommending securities firm
of emerging companies.

Trade of bonds under
repurchase and resale
agreements, or subscription
or repurchase of money
market funds issued by
domestic securities
investment trust enterprises.

The transaction amount in the
preceding paragraph shall be
calculated in accordance with the
following:

1. The amount of
individual transaction.
The cumulative transaction
amount of acquisitions and
disposals of the same type of
underlying asset with the
same trading counterparty
within a year.

The cumulative transaction
amount of acquisitions and
disposals (cumulative
acquisitions and disposals,
respectively) of real estate
under the same development
project within a year.

The cumulative transaction
amount of acquisitions and
disposals (cumulative
acquisitions and disposals,
respectively) of the same
security within a year.

“Within a year” as mentioned
above shall refer to the one year
dating back from the date of

each

2.

occurrence of the current
transaction. Amounts that have
already been announced in

accordance with the Procedures
may be excluded.

following circumstances:

1. Trading of domestic
government bonds.

2. Securities trading by

investment professionals on
securities exchanges or places
of business of securities firms,
subscription and issuance of
regular corporate bonds on the
primary market and regular
financial bonds (excluding
subordinated debentures) that
do not involve shareholding

rights, subscription  or
redemption  of  securities
investment trust funds or
futures  trust  funds, or
subscription  of  securities
required by the Taipei
Exchange due to the
underwriting business

requirements of a securities
firm or from an advisory
recommending securities firm

of emerging companies.
3. Trade of bonds under
repurchase and resale

agreements, or subscription or
repurchase of money market
funds issued by domestic
securities  investment  trust
enterprises.
The transaction amount in the
preceding paragraph shall be
calculated in accordance with the
following:
1. The amount of
individual transaction.
The cumulative transaction
amount of acquisitions and
disposals of the same type of
underlying asset with the
same trading counterparty
within a year.
The cumulative transaction
amount of acquisitions and
disposals (cumulative
acquisitions and disposals,
respectively) of real estate or
right-of-use  assets thereof
under the same development

each

2.

3.
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project within a year.

The cumulative transaction
amount of acquisitions and
disposals (cumulative
acquisitions and disposals,
respectively) of the same
security within a year.

“Within a year” as mentioned above
shall refer to the one year dating
back from the date of occurrence of
the current transaction. Amounts
that have already been announced
in accordance with the Procedures
may be excluded.

Paragraph 5,
Article 12

V.

The  Company's  paid-in
capital or total assets of the
Company shall be the
standard for  determining
whether or not a transaction
of a subsidiary referred to in
the requirement that a public
announcement and regulatory

filing reaches “20—pereent
1) s

paid-in capital or 10-pereent

{10%)-of total assets”.

V.

The Company's paid-in capital
or total assets shall be the
standard  for  determining
whether or not a transaction of
a subsidiary referred to in the
requirement of a public
announcement and regulatory
filing reaches “paid-in capital
or total assets”.

Revised in
accordance
with
amendment
in laws and
regulations.
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Technologies Inc. before

(Attachment 6)
Comparison Table of the Handling Procedures for Loaning Funds of Brogent

and after Revision

Article
Number

Before Revision

After Revision

Description

Article 2

Entities to which funds are loaned.

In accordance with Article 15 of the

Company Act, the Company may

not loan funds to shareholders or

any other persons (hereinafter
referred to as “borrowers”) except
under the following circumstances:

I.  Where an inter-company or
inter-firm business transaction
calls for a loan arrangement.

Il. Where an inter-company or
inter-firm short-term financing
facility is necessary, provided
that such financing amount
shall not exceed 40 percent
(40%) of the Company's net

worth as stated in its latest
financial statement.
The term "short-term" as used

herein means one year, or where the
Company's operating cycle exceeds
one year, one operating cycle.

The term “financing amount” as
used herein means the cumulative
balance of the  Company's
short-term financing.

The restriction in Subparagraph 2,
Paragraph 1 shall not apply to
inter-company loans of funds
between foreign companies in
which the Company holds, directly
or indirectly, 100 percent (100%) of
the voting shares. However, the
provisions of Article 4 and Article 5
concerning the setting of the
amount limits and the durations of
loans shall still apply.

Entities to which funds are loaned.

In accordance with Article 15 of the

Company Act, the Company may

not loan funds to shareholders or

any other persons (hereinafter
referred to as “borrowers”) except
under the following circumstances:

I.  Where an inter-company or
inter-firm business transaction
calls for a loan arrangement.

Il. Where an inter-company or
inter-firm short-term financing
facility is necessary, provided
that such financing amount
shall not exceed 40 percent
(40%) of the Company's net

worth as stated in its latest
financial statement.
The term "short-term” as used

herein means one year, or where the
Company's operating cycle exceeds
one year, one operating cycle.

The term "financing amount” as
used herein means the cumulative
balance of the  Company's
short-term financing.

The restriction in Subparagraph 2,
Paragraph 1, shall not apply to
inter-company loans of funds
between foreign companies in
which the Company holds, directly
or indirectly, 100 percent (100%) of
the voting shares, or loans of a
foreign company in which the
public company holds, directly or
indirectly, 100 percent (100%) of
the voting shares to said public
company. However, the provisions
of Article 4 and Article 5
concerning the setting of the
amount limits and the durations of
loans shall still apply.

The responsible person of the
Company who has violated the

Revised in
accordance
with
amendment
in laws and
regulations.
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provisions of the Paragraph 1 shall
be liable, jointly with the borrower,
for the repayment of the loan
issued, and for damage
compensations to the Company that
resulted therefrom, if any.

Article 9

Subsequent measures for control
and management of loans, and
procedures for handling delinquent
creditor's rights.

I. After a loan is extended, thell.

Company shall pay attention to
the financial, business, and
relevant credit status of the
borrower and guarantor. Where
collateral is provided, the
Company shall also notice
whether there are changes in
the value of collateral. A report
on significant change in the
aforesaid conditions shall be
immediately submitted to the
President, and  appropriate
disposals shall be made in
accordance with the President’s
instructions.

Il. Where the borrower repays the
loan upon or before the loan is
due, accrued interests shall be
calculated first. After the
borrower pays off said interests
along with the principal, the
Company may cancel or return
promissory notes and/or the
loan, or conduct the release of

lien.
I11. Where the loan is due and the
creditor’s rights cannot be

recovered after debt collection,
and the Company still cannot
recover its creditor’s rights after
making necessary notices, it
shall seek legal actions to
perform measures to safeguard
creditor’s rights so as to ensure
the Company’s rights and
interests.

IV. Where as a result of change of
conditions the entity to which
funds are loaned no longer
meets the requirements of the

Subsequent measures for control
and management of loans, and
procedures for handling delinquent
creditor's rights.

After a loan is extended, the
Company shall pay attention to
the financial, business, and
relevant credit status of the
borrower and guarantor. Where
collateral is provided, the
Company shall also notice
whether there are changes in the
value of collateral. A report on
significant change in the
aforesaid conditions shall be
immediately submitted to the
President, and  appropriate
disposals shall be made in
accordance with the President’s
instructions.

Where the borrower repays the
loan upon or before the loan is
due, accrued interests shall be
calculated first. After the
borrower pays off said interests
along with the principal, the
Company may cancel or return
promissory notes and/or the
loan, or conduct the release of

lien.
I1l. Where the loan is due and the
creditor’s rights cannot be

recovered after debt collection,
and the Company still cannot
recover its creditor’s rights after
making necessary notices, it
shall seek legal actions to
perform measures to safeguard
creditor’s rights so as to ensure
the Company’s rights and
interests.

V. Where as a result of changes of
condition the entity to which a
fund is loaned no longer meets
the requirements of the

Revised in
accordance
with
amendment
in laws and
regulations.
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Regulations Governing Loaning

of Funds and Making of
Endorsements/Guarantees by
Public Companies, or the

balance of the loan exceeds the
limit, the Company shall adopt
rectification plans and submit
the rectification plans to all the
supervisors, and shall complete
the rectification according to
the time frame set out in the
plan.

Regulations Governing Loaning

of Funds and Making of
Endorsements/Guarantees by
Public Companies, or the

balance of the loan exceeds the
limit, the Company shall adopt
rectification plans and submit
the rectification plans to all the
supervisors and independent
directors, and shall complete
the rectification according to
the time frame set out in the
plan.

Article 10

Audit procedures

The Audit Dept. shall audit the
Handling Procedures for Loaning
Funds and the implementation
thereof no less frequently than
quarterly and prepare written
records accordingly. It shall
promptly notify all supervisors in
writing of any material violation
found.

Audit procedures

The Audit Dept. shall audit the
Handling Procedures for Loaning
Funds and the implementation
thereof no less frequently than
quarterly and prepare written
records accordingly. It shall
promptly notify all supervisors and
independent directors in writing of
any material violation found.

Revised in
accordance
with
amendment
in laws and
regulations.

Article 12

Disclosure of information

I. The Company shall announce|l.

and report the previous month's
balance of loans of itself and its
subsidiaries by the 10th day of
each month.

Il. The Company whose balance of
loans reaches one of the
following levels shall announce
and report such event within

two days commencing
immediately from the date of
occurrence:

(I) The aggregate balance of loans
of the Company and its
subsidiaries reaches 20 percent
(20%) or more of the
Company's net worth as stated
in its latest financial statement.
(1) The balance of loans of the
Company and its subsidiaries to
a single enterprise reaches 10
percent (10%) or more of the
Company's net worth as stated
in its latest financial statement.
The amount of new loans

(1)

Disclosure of information
The Company shall announce
and report the previous month's
balance of loans of itself and its
subsidiaries by the 10th day of
each month.
The Company whose balance of
loans reaches one of the
following levels shall announce
and report such event within
two days commencing
immediately from the date of
occurrence:
The aggregate balance of loans
of the Company and its
subsidiaries reaches 20 percent
(20%) or more of the
Company's net worth as stated
in its latest financial statement.
(I) The balance of loans of the
Company and its subsidiaries to
a single enterprise reaches 10
percent (10%) or more of the
Company's net worth as stated
in its latest financial statement.
The amount of new loans

(1

(1)

Revised in
accordance
with
amendment
in laws and
regulations.
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made by the Company or its
subsidiaries reaches NT$10
million or more, and reaches 2
percent (2%) or more of the
Company's net worth as stated
in its latest financial statement.
The Company shall announce
and report, on behalf of any
subsidiary that is not a public
company of the Republic of
China, any matters that such
subsidiary is required to
announce and report pursuant to
Subparagraph 3 of  the
preceding paragraph.

The Company shall evaluate
the status of its loans of funds
and reserve sufficient allowance
for bad debts; the Company
shall also adequately disclose
relevant information in its
financial reports and provide
certified public accountants
with relevant information for
implementation of necessary
auditing procedures.

“Date of occurrence” as used
herein means the date of
transaction  contract  signing,
date of payment, dates of
Boards of
resolutions, or other date that
can confirm the counterparty
and monetary amount of the
transaction, whichever date is
earlier.

Directors’

V.

made by the Company or its
subsidiaries reaches NT$10
million or more, and reaches 2
percent (2%) or more of the
Company's net worth as stated
in its latest financial statement.
The Company shall announce
and report, on behalf of any
subsidiary that is not a public
company of the Republic of
China, any matters that such
subsidiary is required to
announce and report pursuant to
Subparagraph 3 of  the
preceding paragraph.

The Company shall evaluate
the status of its loans of funds
and reserve sufficient allowance
for bad debts; the Company
shall also adequately disclose
relevant information in its
financial reports and provide
certified public accountants
with relevant information for
implementation of necessary
auditing procedures.

“Date of occurrence” as used
herein means the date of
signing, date of payment, dates
of Boards of
resolutions, or other date that
can confirm the counterparty
and monetary amount of the
loan, whichever date is earlier.

Directors’

Article 14

Implementation and revision

After the Handling Procedures|l.

are passed by the Board of
Directors, the Company shall
submit the same to each
supervisor and for approval by
the  shareholders’ meeting.
Where any director expresses
dissent and it is contained in the
minutes or a written statement,
the Company shall submit the

Implementation and revision

After the Handling Procedures
are passed by the Board of
Directors, the Company shall
submit the same to each
supervisor and for approval by
the  shareholders’ meeting.
Where any director expresses
dissent and it is contained in the
minutes or a written statement,
the Company shall submit the

Revised in
accordance
with
amendment
in laws and
regulations.

-47 -




dissenting opinions to each
supervisor and for discussion
by the shareholders' meeting.
The same shall apply to any
amendments to the Procedures.

Where the Company has
established the position of
independent  director, each

independent director's opinions
shall be fully taken into
consideration; independent
directors' opinions specifically
expressing assent or dissent,
and the reasons for dissent,
shall be included in the minutes
of the Board of Directors'
meeting.

dissenting opinions to each
supervisor and for discussion
by the shareholders’ meeting.
The same shall apply to any
amendments to the Procedures.

Where the Company has
established the position of
independent  director, each

independent director's opinions
shall be fully taken into
consideration; if an independent
director objects to or expresses
reservations about any matter, it
shall be recorded in the minutes
of the Board of Directors
meeting.
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(Attachment 7)
Comparison Table of the Handling Procedures for Making of
Endorsements/Guarantees of Brogent Technologies Inc. before and after

Revision
Acrticle Before Revision After Revision Description
Number
Article 8 Limits on and changes of|Limits on and changes of|Revised in
endorsements/guarantees endorsements/guarantees accordance
I.  Where the Company needs to|l. Where the Company needs to|with
exceed the limits set out in exceed the limits set out injamendment
Article 4 for Article 4 for|in laws and
endorsements/guarantees to endorsements/guarantees to|regulations.
satisfy its business satisfy its business

requirements, and where the
conditions set out in the
Procedures are complied with,
it shall obtain approval from the
Board of Directors and half or
more of the directors shall act
as joint guarantors for any loss
that may be caused to the
Company by the excess
endorsement/guarantee. It shall
also amend the Rules for
Endorsements/Guarantees
accordingly and submit the
amendments to the
shareholders’  meeting  for
ratification after the fact. If the
shareholders' meeting does not
give consent, the Company
shall adopt a plan to discharge
the amount in excess within a
given time limit. In addition,
independent directors' opinions
shall be fully taken into
consideration and said opinions
specifically expressing assent
or dissent, and the reasons for
dissent, shall be included in the
minutes of the Board of
Directors' meeting.

Where as a result of change of
conditions the counterparty for
which the
endorsement/guarantee is made
no longer meets the
requirements of the Regulations
Governing Loaning of Funds
and Making of

requirements, and where the
conditions set out in the
Procedures are complied with,
it shall obtain approval from the
Board of Directors and half or
more of the directors shall act
as joint guarantors for any loss
that may be caused to the
Company by the excess
endorsement/guarantee. It shall
also amend the Rules for
Endorsements/Guarantees
accordingly and submit the
amendments to the
shareholders’  meeting  for
ratification after the fact. If the
shareholders’ meeting does not
give consent, the Company
shall adopt a plan to discharge
the amount in excess within a
given time limit. In addition,
independent directors' opinions
shall be fully taken into
consideration and said opinions
specifically expressing assent
or dissent, and the reasons for
dissent, shall be included in the
minutes of the Board of
Directors' meeting.

Where as a result of change of
conditions the counterparty for
which an
endorsement/guarantee is made
no longer meets the
requirements of the Regulations
Governing Loaning of Funds
and Making of
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Endorsements/Guarantees by
Public Companies, or the
amount of

endorsement/guarantee exceeds
the limit, the Company shall
adopt rectification plans and
submit the rectification plans to
all the supervisors, and shall
complete  the rectification
according to the time frame set
out in the plan.

Endorsements/Guarantees by
Public Companies, or the
amount of

endorsement/guarantee exceeds
the limit, the Company shall
adopt rectification plans and
submit the rectification plans to
all  the  supervisors and
independent directors, and shall
complete  the rectification
according to the time frame set
out in the plan

Article 9

Disclosure of information

(M

(1) The

()

The Company shall announcel|l.

and report the previous month's
balance of
endorsements/guarantees of
itself and its subsidiaries by the
10th day of each month.
The company whose balance of
endorsements/guarantees
reaches one of the following
levels shall announce and report
such event within two days
commencing immediately from
the date of occurrence:
The aggregate balance of
endorsements/guarantees by the
Company and its subsidiaries
reaches 50 percent (50%) or
more of the Company's net
worth as stated in its latest
financial statement.
balance of
endorsements/guarantees by the
Company and its subsidiaries
for a single enterprise reaches
20 percent (20%) or more of the
Company's net worth as stated
in its latest financial statement.
The balance of
endorsements/guarantees by the
Company and its subsidiaries
for a single enterprise reaches
NT$10 million or more and the
aggregate amount of all
endorsements/guarantees  for,
investment of a long-term
nature in, and balance of loans
to, such enterprise reaches 30
percent (30%) or more of

Disclosure of information

(1

(1

(1)

The Company shall announce
and report the previous month's
balance of
endorsements/guarantees of
itself and its subsidiaries by the
10th day of each month.

The company whose balance of
endorsements/guarantees
reaches one of the following
levels shall announce and report
such event within two days
commencing immediately from
the date of occurrence:

The aggregate balance of
endorsements/guarantees by the
Company and its subsidiaries
reaches 50 percent (50%) or
more of the Company's net

worth as stated in its latest
financial statement.
The balance of

endorsements/guarantees by the
Company and its subsidiaries
for a single enterprise reaches
20 percent (20%) or more of the
Company's net worth as stated
in its latest financial statement.
The balance of
endorsements/guarantees by the
Company and its subsidiaries
for a single enterprise reaches
NT$10 million or more and the
aggregate  amount of all
endorsements/guarantees  for,
carrying amount of investment
accounted for using the equity
method in, and balance of
lending to, such enterprise

Revised in
accordance
with
amendment
in laws and
regulations.
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Company's net worth as stated
in its latest financial statement.

(V) The amount of new
endorsements/guarantees made
by the Company or its
subsidiaries reaches NT$30
million or more, and reaches 5
percent (5%) or more of the
Company's net worth as stated
in its latest financial statement.

The Company shall announce
and report, on behalf of any
subsidiary thereof that is not a
public company of the Republic
of China, any matters that such
subsidiary is  required to
announce and report pursuant to
Subparagraph 4 of  the
preceding paragraph.

The Company shall evaluate or
record the contingent loss for

endorsements/guarantees, and
shall  adequately  disclose
information on

endorsements/guarantees in its
financial reports and provide
certified public accountants
with relevant information for
implementation of necessary
audit procedures and issuance
of appropriate audit reports.

V. “Date of occurrence” as used
herein means the date of
transaction—contract  signing,
date of payment, dates of
Boards of Directors’
resolutions, or other date that
can confirm the counterparty
and monetary amount of the
transaction, whichever date is
earlier.

reaches 30 percent (30%) or
more of Company's net worth
as stated in its latest financial
statement.
The amount of new
endorsements/guarantees made
by the Company or its
subsidiaries reaches NT$30
million or more, and reaches 5
percent (5%) or more of the
Company's net worth as stated
in its latest financial statement.
Il. The Company shall announce
and report, on behalf of any
subsidiary thereof that is not a
public company of the Republic
of China, any matters that such
subsidiary is  required to
announce and report pursuant to
Subparagraph 4 of  the
preceding paragraph.

V. The Company shall evaluate or
record the contingent loss for

(V)

endorsements/guarantees, and
shall  adequately  disclose
information on

endorsements/guarantees in its
financial reports and provide
certified public accountants
with relevant information for
implementation of necessary
audit procedures and issuance
of appropriate audit reports.

V. “Date of occurrence” as used
herein means the date of
signing, date of payment, dates
of Boards of Directors
resolutions, or other date that
can confirm the counterparty
and monetary amount,
whichever date is earlier.

Article 11

Audit procedures
The Company’s internal auditors

shall audit the  operational
procedures for
endorsements/guarantees, and the

implementation thereof, no less
frequently than quarterly and must

Audit procedures

The Company’s internal auditors
shall audit the  operational
procedures for
endorsements/guarantees and the
implementation thereof no less
frequently than quarterly and

Revised in
accordance
with
amendment
in laws and
regulations.
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prepare written records accordingly.
They shall promptly notify all
supervisors in writing of any
material violation found.

prepare written records accordingly.
They shall promptly notify all
supervisors and independent
directors in writing of any material
violation found.

Article 13

Implementation and revision

I. After the Handling Proceduresil.

are passed by the Board of
Directors, the Company shall
submit said Procedures to each
supervisor and for approval by
the  shareholders’ meeting.
Where any director expresses
dissent and it is contained in the
minutes or a written statement,
the Company shall submit the
dissenting opinions to each
supervisor and for discussion
by the shareholders' meeting.
The same shall apply to any
amendments to the Procedures.

Il. Where the Company has
established the position of
independent  director, each
independent director's opinions
shall be fully taken into
consideration; the independent
directors' opinions specifically
expressing assent or dissent,
and the reasons for dissent,
shall be included in the minutes
of the Board of Directors'
meeting.

Implementation and revision

After the Handling Procedures
are passed by the Board of
Directors, the Company shall
submit said Procedures to each
supervisor and for approval by
the  shareholders’ meeting.
Where any director expresses
dissent and it is contained in the
minutes or a written statement,
the Company shall submit the
dissenting opinions to each
supervisor and for discussion
by the shareholders’ meeting.
The same shall apply to any
amendments to the Procedures.

Where the Company has
established the position of
independent  director,  each
independent director's opinions
shall be fully taken into
consideration; if an independent
director objects to or expresses
reservations about any matter, it
shall be recorded in the minutes
of the Board of Directors
meeting.

Revised in
accordance
with
amendment
in laws and
regulations.
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